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ALLCO RENEWABLE ENERGY
LIMITED, OTTER CREEK SOLAR LLC,
CHELSEA SOLAR LLC, APPLE HILL
SOLAR LLC and PLH LLC
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COMPLAINT FOR CIVIL RIGHTS
VIOLATIONS, UNLAWFUL TAKING,
DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE
RELIEF AND DAMAGES

Plaintiff,
V.

JAMES VOLZ, VEPP INC., ANTHONY
ROISMAN, SARAH HOFMANN,
MARGARETCHENEY,VERMONT
PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION, PHIL
SCOTT in his official capacity of governor
of the State ofVermont, and the STATE OF
VERMONT.
Defendants.
NATURE OF THE ACTION
1.

This Court is all too familiar with the willingness of James Volz and Sarah

Hofmann to deceive and provide pretextual reasons for their actions. Entergy Nuclear Vt. Yankee,
LLC v. Shumlin, 838 F. Supp. 2d 183,203, 211-212 (D. Vt. 2012). The Second Circuit described

Volz (then Chair of the Vermont Public Utility Commission) and Hofmann (then Vermont's
Director of Public Advocacy) as "part of a consistent effort ... to obfuscate [the truth] through the
use of misleading statements." Entergy Nuclear Vt. Yankee, LLC v. Shum/in, 733 F.3d 393, 421
(2d Cir. 2013).
2.

Here Volz and Hofmann targeted Plaintiffs for retaliation for the exercise by

Plaintiffs of their constitutional rights to petition the government, the right to free speech, and the
right to due process, and engaged in misconduct and abuse of power to save their own political
necks at Plaintiffs' expense. Then, like all abuse of power conspiracies, they and the other
1
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Defendants engaged in an elaborate coverup, enlisting other non-defendant participants in support
of the conspiracy.
FACTS

3.

Plaintiffs and their affiliates (collectively, "Allco") first corresponded with Mr.

Volz in 2011 in a letter in which Allco informed Mr. Volz that the then current Vermont standard
offer program did not comply with the Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act ("PURP A").
4.

In 2012, Allco filed comments in Public Utility Commission ("PUC") docket 7873

again challenging the PUC's structure for Vermont's standard offer program, which program
provided long-term power purchase agreements for the purchase of electricity from newly built
renewable energy facilities.
5.

In 2013, Allco filed a petition for enforcement under PURPA against the PUC with

the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC") challenging the PUC's structure for the
standard offer program.
6.

Also in 2013, the State of Vermont rolled out the red carpet for solar developers.

Prior to that time, the State was awarding long-term contracts (25 years) for the purchase of energy
from small solar projects (2.2 megawatts and under) at a rate of 25-30 cents per kilo-watt-hour
("Kwh").

The State wanted to reduce the cost that it was paying for solar projects so it asked the

PUC to initiate a competitive bidding process for such contracts, called "standard offer" contracts
in Vermont.
7.

The announcement of the first competitive solicitation was greeted with fanfare and

the State sought to widely distribute notice of the solicitation to maximize competition. The
message to developers was: -

come to Vermont and invest your time and money in developing

solar in Vermont because we are solar friendly. At that time, that was true, and in reliance thereon
Plaintiffs proceeded to invest in solar development and projects in Vermont.
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8.

In fact, at that time the permitting process for solar projects was normally smooth

although cumbersome and unduly burdensome considering the need for renewable energy. Indeed,
the Vermont law that authorized the competitive bidding process and the milestones set in the
Vermont standard offer contract assumed that a permit from the PUC to build the solar project
would take only 3-4 months to be received from the date of a petition for a permit.
9.

Also, significant sized solar projects were authorized in plain view, clearly

indicating to Allco that Vermont and its permitting system was friendly to solar everywhere. The
permitting law, 30 V.S.A. § 248(b )(5) requires that the PUC find that the proposed facility would
not have an undue adverse effect on aesthetics with due consideration having been given to
greenhouse gas impacts. Notably some States, such as Massachusetts, have banned aesthetics
objections as a matter of law. M. G. L. c. 40A, § 3.
10.

For example, the visual below is of a solar facility in Ferrisburgh, Vermont, along

heavily traveled Route 7, that Allco's President would regularly drive past on trips between
Middlebury and Burlington, Vermont, prior to Allco making its investments in solar development
in Vermont. The Ferrisburgh project occupies a similar footprint to each of the Plaintiffs' proposed
Chelsea solar and Apple Hill solar projects in Bennington, Vermont. The Ferrisburgh project was
held by the PUC to not have an undue adverse effect on aesthetics. Petition ofAddison Solar Farm,
LLC, No. 7594 (Vt. Pub. Util. Comm'n August 3, 2010). That was the state of the law under which

Plaintiffs began their investments in Vermont in 2013 in solar development, including in the
Chelsea and Apple Hill solar projects.

3

Case 5:20-cv-00034-gwc Document 1 Filed 03/09/20 Page 4 of 61

11.

Allco searched for land and invested time and money in searching for the best sites

for solar facilities that could provide the most competitive price to Vermont for submission in the
2013 solicitation. At the time it made its investments, Allco had a reasonable expectation that the
relatively favorable regulatory environment that existed at the time of the investments would
continue.
12.

As a result of its effort and investment, Allco submitted the three lowest bids in the

2013 competition-the Chelsea solar project (at 13.4 cents per Kwh), the Apple Hill solar project
(at 13.9 cents per Kwh) and the Sudbury solar project (at 14.4 cents per Kwh). The Chelsea and
Apple Hill solar projects, both located in Bennington and adjacent to each other, are at the heart
of this litigation.
13.

The PUC, however, rejected the bid for the Apple Hill project.

That decision,

having no basis in Vermont law, was reversed by the Vermont Supreme Court. See, In re
Programmatic Changes, 2014 VT 29, 196 Vt. 175, 95 A.3d 999 (Vt. 2014).

4
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14.

After receiving standard offer contracts for the sale of their energy from VEPP, Inc.

("VEPP"), each of the Chelsea solar and Apple Hill solar projects needed to, and did, file petitions
for a certificate of public good ("CPG") under 30 V.S.A § 248 with the PUC. The CPG process
is the equivalent of obtaining a permit to build a facility.
15.

Copies of the plans for each of the Chelsea and Apple Hill projects were provided

to the town of Bennington and the Bennington Regional Commission when they were filed with
the PUC. No objections were made by either local body at that time.
16.

The Chelsea CPG process was nearing completion in summer of 2015, when there

arose a groundswell of municipal complaints about the PUC and the way it ran the CPG process.
The Vermont Supreme Court described the situation as a political maelstrom. See, In re Rutland
Renewable Energy, LLC, 2016 VT 50 (2015) at P42 (Robinson, J. concurring).

17.

Despite the rapidly growing political heat, the hearing officer assigned to the

Chelsea solar case issued a proposed decision on October 2, 2015, recommending approval of a
CPG for the Chelsea solar project because the Chelsea project satisfied all the requirements for a
CPG under 30 V.S.A § 248 and was rightfully entitled to the CPG it applied for.
18.

Indeed, both the Vermont Department of Public Service and the Vermont Agency

of Natural Resources who intervened in the Chelsea solar proceeding agreed that the Chelsea
project satisfied all requirements for a CPG.
19.

But then on October 12, 2015, the powerful chairman of the Vermont Legislature's

House Energy Committee, Tony Klein, who oversaw the PUC, wrote to Volz, telling him,
Hofmann and Margaret Cheney (the then PUC commissioners) that the PUC would lose its
jurisdiction if it continued its current practice of approving all solar projects proposed by
developers. See, Exhibit A.

5
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20.

Klein's letter was pretextual. In reality it was directed at the Plaintiffs' Chelsea and

Apple Hill solar projects, as part of a coordinated effort of Klein, other legislators, the
neighborhood opposition group and their leader, Annette Smith.
21.

How do we know that Klein's warning to Volz and the PUC was targeted at

Plaintiffs' Chelsea and Apple Hill solar projects and was part of a coordinated effort of Klein, the
neighborhood opposition group and their leader, Annette Smith? Bennington Representative Mary
Morrissey tells us so.
22.

On October 10, 2015, Morrissey wrote a letter to the PUC urging the PUC not to

approve the Chelsea and Apple Hill solar projects. See, Exhibit B. Morrissey characterizes the
Klein letter as having already been sent and as a message to the PUC that the "legislature did not
tell you to approve every renewable energy project that comes before you." But the Klein letter
was sent two days later on October 12, 2015, so Morrissey could only have had possession of, and
known about, the Klein letter if she were intimately involved with both the planning and the
message.
23.

In addition, on October 13, 2015, Annette Smith on behalf of a neighborhood

resident, Libby Harris, submitted a request for a site visit to the PUC, attaching the Morrissey
letter, indicating that they were intimately involved with Morrissey's and hence, Klein' s efforts.
24.

Klein and Defendant Margaret Cheney were, and upon information and belief still

are, good friends as they both served on the Vermont Legislature's House energy committee while
Klein was chair, and communicate regularly.
25.

Understanding that their jobs were on the line, on January 6, 2016, Volz and the

PUC sua sponte issued an order requesting comments on an issue never raised by any party in the
nearly 18 months of proceedings on the Chelsea project-whether the Bennington Town plan
prohibited solar facilities in the rural conservation zone, which was where the project would be

6
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located. That order was pretextual. The Chelsea project satisfied all the requirements for a CPG
under 30 V.S.A § 248 and was rightfully, on an objective basis, entitled to the CPG it applied for.
26.

Acting under color of state law, Volz, Hofmann and the PUC denied the CPG for

the Chelsea project on February 16, 2016, holding that the Bennington Town Plan prohibited solar
facilities in the rural conservation zone, a rationale that the long-time Bennington Town attorney
stated subsequently at a public hearing was simply not credible.
27.

The PUC had previously approved large-scale electric facilities and other facilities

in the Bennington RCON zone, and obviously thinking they were above accountability for their
abuse of power here, approved a large-scale electric facility in the RCON zone even after the

Chelsea CPG denial.
28.

Moreover, the Town of Bennington was in the process of designating hundreds of

acres in the RCON as "preferred" sites for solar facilities.
29.

The PUC's ruling was pretextual and unlawful. The Chelsea project satisfied all

the requirements for a CPG under 30 V.S.A § 248 and was rightfully entitled to the CPG it applied
for.
30.

Heeding Klein's directive, Volz, Hofmann and the PUC had thus denied their first

solar project in an attempt to weather the political storm, keep their jobs, and did so targeting a
developer that had continued to be a constant thorn in their side since 2011, all at the behest of
neighborhood opposition and not for any legitimate regulatory reason.
31.

To mark the occasion, the PUC took the highly unusual step of issuing a press

release and posting the denial on the home page of its website, thus trying to lessen the political
heat Volz and Hofmann and the PUC were feeling.

7
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32.

Allco filed various motions with the PUC challenging the PUC's denial, which

unsurprisingly were all denied, although the PUC took more than a year to do so, denying them on
April 17, 2017, making the PUC's denial a final action on April 17, 2017.
33.

The PUC ' s denial of the CPG was based on pretextual bases.

The Defendants '

denial of the CPG, which was taken under color of state law, was unlawful. The actions of
Defendants Volz, Hofmann, Cheney and the PUC were retaliatory, tortious, designed to chill
Plaintiffs' and others' right to free speech and to petition, a violation of Plaintiffs' constitutional
rights to due process and equal protection, and an unlawful taking without just compensation. The
Chelsea project satisfied all the requirements for a CPG under 30 V.S.A § 248 and was rightfully
entitled to the CPG it applied for.
34.

Allco filed a timely appeal to the Vermont Supreme Court on May 12, 2017.

35.

While the appeal was pending in the Vermont Supreme Court, on June 12, 2017,

Volz was replaced by Roisman. On September 7, 2017, Allco filed a motion for relief from the
CPG denial under rule 60, pointing, among other things, to Allco ' s revised plans for the project
that would reduce the footprint.
36.

On September 26, 2017, Allco also filed a public records request seeking all records

from the PUC related to the Chelsea project. The PUC withheld virtually all requested records.
37.

But on October 12, 2017, while denying the rule 60(b) motion on jurisdictional

grounds, the PUC invited Allco to drop the appeal at the Vermont Supreme Court and bring the
Chelsea project back to the PUC for "prompt" review. In reliance on the PUC's commitment,
Allco dropped its appeal thus starting Chelsea solar round 2, believing (incorrectly as it turned out)
that the installation of a new chair at the PUC would result in the PUC fixing the wrongful denial
of the Chelsea project by Volz and friends.
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38.

Plaintiffs continued to expend significant amounts in connection with the Chelsea

project as well as other projects in Vermont in reliance on the PUC ' s apparent change of attitude,
and promise of a prompt review.
39.

Thereafter, the PUC issued the CPG for the Apple Hill solar project, but the PUC

failed to make proper factual findings because to do so would have required them to point the
finger at themselves as to the Chelsea CPG denial. As a result, on appeal filed by the neighbors,
the Vermont Supreme Court reversed and remanded the Apple Hill order for further findings.
40.

But whatever possibility there was that the PUC would remedy the sins of the past

surely disappeared after the PUC hired a new general counsel, Kyle Landis-Marinello.
41.

Prior to joining the PUC, Marinello worked in the Vermont Attorney General's

Office. Also working in that office was Attorney Steven Collier, who was representing the State
of Vermont in an Allco lawsuit brought in 2018 challenging portions of 30 V.S.A. §248, which
was commenced on March 19, 2018.

The Vermont Superior Court invalidated portions of 30

V.S.A. §248 in a decision on March 4, 2019, in that case. Prior to and after that ruling, Allco and
the State engaged in settlement discussions and came close to settlement a number of times but
there was always one major stumbling block. The State insisted that Allco release all claims
against the State and its agencies, not only in that litigation but for any act up to that time.
42.

Allco consistently stated that it could not because it had claims against the PUC.

43 .

What better way to cover up and try to escape accountability for the abuse of power,

wrongful CPG denial and retaliatory actions against Allco related to the Chelsea solar project then
to create a further pretextual reason to deny a CPG yet again, and take the position that it would
have been denied anyway.
44.

At the same time, Legislators from Bennington were continuing to urge the PUC to

take action that was clearly unlawful in order to target the Plaintiffs. Vermont Senator Campion

9
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(Vice Chair of the Senate Committee on Natural Resources and Energy that oversees the PUC)
and Senator Sears (Chair of the Senate Committee on Judiciary) were urging the PUC to apply
changes to section 30 V.S.A. §248 retroactively in clear violation of law in order to stop both the
Chelsea and Apple Hill solar projects. See, Exhibit C.
45.

The hearing officer in round 2 of the Chelsea CPG case was the same hearing

officer that issued a favorable proposed decision in round 1 of the Chelsea CPG case. He issued
another favorable proposed decision for the Chelsea project on January 2, 2019. But then in a
repeat of Chelsea round 1, the PUC issued a post-proposed decision order raising issues that had
been settled by the Vermont Supreme Court in 2014, and even decided in Chelsea's favor by the
PUC in the first go-around of the Chelsea CPG process.

46.

Upon information and belief, Marinello was the principal driver behind the PUC's

re-opening the issues decided already and seeking to decide those issues against Plaintiffs.
47.

On June 12, 2019, the PUC denied a CPG for the Chelsea project solely on an issue

resolved against the PUC in 2014.
48.

The PUC's action was again pretextual. That denial is on appeal to the Vermont

Supreme Court in In re Petition of Chelsea Solar LLC, docket no. 2019-226.
49.

But the PUC did not stop its retaliatory actions and coverup conspiracy there.

50.

On June 13, 2019, the PUC issued an order in case no. 19-1596 stating that it might

revoke the power purchase agreements or already-issued CPGs for two of Allco's other projectsthe OCl and OC2 projects in Rutland, Vermont-on the pretextual basis of an objectively
meritless legal position, which would strand Plaintiffs investment and cause over a million dollars
in damage to Plaintiffs.
51.

The PUC's June 13, 2019, order threatened those penalties over alleged violations

of the existing CPGs issued to the OCl project and the OC2 project. Eventually the PUC was

10
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compelled to admit that no CPG violations occurred. But the damage and unlawful taking was
done.
52.

That PUC's June 13, 2019, order caused an immediate cessation of the about to

begin construction of the OCl and OC2 projects, causing substantial damage to Plaintiffs. A solar
project requires its permit and a power purchase agreement in order to obtain financing. Because
the PUC was threatening to remove one or both, the projects could not be constructed. The OC 1
and OC2 projects still cannot be constructed because the PUC has not withdrawn its threats.
53.

Even if the PUC's position related to the OCl and OC2 projects had some merit

(which it did not), the damage caused to Plaintiffs and the threatened penalty exponentially
exceeded anything the PUC had imposed in its history.
54.

The PU C's re-opening of the CPG proceedings and re-opening of the examination

of the standard contracts for the OC 1 and OC2 projects was extraordinary and unprecedented by
any measure.
55.

First, such re-openings are only authorized under Vt. R. Civ. Proc. 60(b). For the

PUC to sua sponte re-open those judgments on its own motion has no precedent. The Vermont
Supreme Court has not yet ruled on whether a tribunal has the power to sua sponte act under Rule
60(b). Under the corresponding Federal rule, the Circuit Courts of Appeal are split, with some
holding that it is never permissible, and others holding that under certain circumstances it is
permissible.

But even in the Circuits that allow such sua sponte action, it is never under

circumstances such as these here. Rather it is under more mundane circumstances, such as a
district court judge vacating a judgment following remand from the Court of Appeals, see, Fort
Knox Music, Inc. v. Baptiste, 257 F.3d 108 (2d Cir. 2001), or a district court indicating it wished

to grant Rule 60(b) relief after a notice of appeal has been filed. See, Toliver v. County ofSullivan,
957 F.2d 47, 49 (2d Cir. 1992).

11
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56.

Second, the revocation of two CPGs and standard offer contracts exponentially

exceeds anything the PUC has imposed in its history. For example, in In re Citizens Utils. Co.,
171 Vt. 447 (2000), a case that involved "decades-long course of egregious and unprecedented
misconduct" the penalty was only $60,000, nowhere near the million-dollar-plus penalty the PUC
was threatening to impose.
57.

The Vermont Supreme Court described the situation in In re Citizens Utils. Co as

follows:
The Board's 309-page order resolved two distinct but interrelated dockets, the first
addressing substantial allegations of misconduct and mismanagement by Citizens,
and the second investigating the company's overall rates. Following forty-one days
of hearings and two separate public hearings, the Board found that Citizens' rates
were excessive and that the company had engaged in a decades-long course of
egregious and unprecedented misconduct characterized by (1) numerous willful
violations of statutes, Board orders, and its own agreements; (2) imprudent
mismanagement of its Vermont Electric Division (VED); (3) imprudent failure to
maintain accurate records to ensure that only appropriate costs were included in
rates; (4) willful failure to provide service to its Vermont customers through leastcost options; and (5) persistent refusal to cooperate with regulatory investigations.
The Board cited examples of Citizens' misconduct too numerous to set forth in any
detail. Suffice it to say that the Board's decision is replete with examples of
inadequate and misleading accounting practices on the part of Citizens that
obscured the true nature of the Company's expenditures and activities. Citizens
failed to implement procedures designed to promote compliance with demand-sidemanagement (DSM) obligations, and, in some instances, claimed savings for DSM
programs that appeared never to have been implemented. The Company also failed
to abide by its agreement to implement least-cost planning for transmission and
distribution facilities, and further failed to conduct required least-cost analysis
before undertaking major investments. Moreover, Citizens repeatedly failed to
obtain prior Board approval, as required by statute, before engaging in significant
projects, including the conversion of distribution lines to transmission lines, the
relocation or modification of substations, and the construction of new lines and
substations. Citizens compounded its misconduct by resisting the Department's
efforts to obtain information from the company. In short, over a period of many
years, Citizens engaged in a pattern of behavior aimed at thwarting the
Department's and the Board's regulatory oversight.
58.

Even though the PUC stated that the "decades-long course of egregious and

unprecedented misconduct" justified the harshest of penalties-revocation of the CPG-the PUC

12
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did not impose the harshest of penalties and instead imposed a fine of $60,000. 1
59.

In sharp contrast, here the PUC was eventually forced to conclude the Plaintiffs did

not violate the CPGs. 2 But objectively the PUC never had a basis for the re-opening of the CPG
proceedings or the PPAs nor the threats to revoke the PP As or those CPGs.
60.

Indeed, in the case of the PPAs which are all contracts for the wholesale sale of

energy, the PUC has no jurisdiction to revoke the PP As nor cause a termination without the express
consent of the FERC. See generally, e.g. , NextEra Energy, Inc. v. Pacific Gas and Elec. Co., 166
FERC ,r 61,049 (2019).3 See also, In re Permian Basin Area Rate Cases, 390 U.S. 747,822 (1968)
("The regulatory system created by the Act . .. contemplates abrogation of these agreements only
in circumstances of unequivocal public necessity").
61.

Not content to stop there, in October 2019, the PUC enlisted VEPP in the

conspiracy and directed VEPP to terminate the standard offer contract for the OC 1 project based
upon the pretextual rationale that a complete CPG application was not submitted for the project
within the time required by the contract. That was factually untrue because the OC 1 project
already had a CPG to build the project-the same CPG that in the June 13, 2019, order the PUC
threatened to revoke. Indeed, the CPG issued to Plaintiffs for the OC 1 project permitted the
construction of a substantially larger facility than would be needed under the standard offer
contract (4.99 megawatts versus 2.2 megawatts ("MWs")).

1

The PUC also reduced rates but as the Vermont Supreme Court concluded that was justified not
by the alleged violations but pursuant to the Commission's authority to set rates, and poor service
justifies lower rates. 171 at 452 ("longstanding Vermont law authorizing the Board to consider
management efficiency and customer service in arriving at a determination of just and reasonable
rates.")
2

See, Investigation pursuant to 30 VS.A . §§ 30 and 209 into alleged violation of Otter Creek
Solar, LLC 's certificates of public good issued in Cases 8797 and 8798, No. 19-1596-INV (Vt.
Pub. Util. Comm'n December 4, 2019).
3

All the PPAs at issue in this case are FERC-jurisdictional wholesale sale contracts. See, e.g. ,
PJM Interconnection, LLC, 123 FERC ,r 61,087 (2008). Under each PPA the solar facility sells
energy to VEPP who then re-sells it and wheels it to different Vermont utilities.
13
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62.

To add more icing on the cover-up conspiracy cake and its targeting of Plaintiffs

and unlawful taking of Plaintiffs' property, the PUC hearing officer assigned to the remand of the
Apple Hill solar project CPG case, in a proposed decision issued on January 6, 2020, created a
brand-new approach to aesthetics tailored to deny a CPG for the Apple Hill project-a drone's
view of the project. To fully understand how preposterous the hearing officer' s approach is, the
visual of the Ferrisburgh solar facility shown above (which was the state of the law under which
Plaintiffs began their investment in Vermont in 2013 in the Chelsea and Apple Hill solar project)
and the visuals below of the proposed Chelsea and Apple Hill projects need to be compared.
63.

The visual below is an expert rendering of the Apple Hill Solar project, the first

visual being in leaf-on conditions and the second in leaf-off conditions, which the hearing officer
(contrary to all his previous decisions), now asserts does have an undue adverse effect on
aesthetics, even though it cannot be seen from ground level.
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I Welcome Center· Summer (Eye Level)
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64.

3D PERSPECTIVE

I Chelsea & Apple Hill Solar Project
I Welcome Center - Winter (Eye Level)

The pretext created by the hearing officer is contrary to his prior conclusions and

simply not objectively credible, just like the PUC's rationale in the first Chelsea order.
65.

The PUC hearing officer's reasoning is based on a drone's or satellites' view of the

project. Of course, any project or development is clearly visible to an overhead drone or Google ' s
satellites that orbit the planet as shown in this excerpt from the hearing officer's proposed decision:

15
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66.

Based upon a drone's view of the project, the hearing officer concludes that the

Apple Hill project would be "prominently visible," on a "hillside", which in turn would violate a
purportedly clear community standard in the Bennington town plan, which then, in turn, means

ipso facto that there is a purported undue adverse effect on aesthetics, regardless of the public good
or the positive reduction of greenhouse gases that would result from the project.
67.

The hearing officer's pretextual rationale required him to ignore all the evidence,

including a statement by the long-time Bennington Town attorney (who will be a witness called
by Plaintiffs in this case) that the Apple Hill project was consistent with the Bennington Town
Plan. The statement of the Town Attorney was made at a public hearing of the Bennington Select
Board, at which the Board publicly stated that they heavily rely on his advice and position.
68.

The hearing officer's pretextual rationale also required him to ignore the

Bennington town planner who testified at deposition that the Apple Hill project was not

prominently visible.
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69.

The Defendants have continued the unlawful retaliation against, and targeting of,

Plaintiffs by purporting to terminate or proposing to terminate yet another PP A-the PP A for the
Otter Creek 3 ("OC3") project on pretextual bases.
70.

On February 6, 2020, Defendant VEPP, at the direction of the PUC, sent a

termination letter to Plaintiffs purporting to terminate the OC3 project' s PP A on the objectively
meritless basis that the Plaintiffs did not file a petition for a CPG for the project within one year
from the effective date of the PPA. The effective date of the OC3 PPA was January 30, 2019, and
the petition for a CPG was filed on January 30, 2020, exactly one year after the effective date.
71.

Defendant VEPP, however, claimed that the deadline was January 29, 2020,

ignoring the plain language of the PPA.
72.

Under Defendant VEPP ' s interpretation, if the language had said an act needed to

occur within 1 day of the effective date, then the act would actually need to be done on the same
day and not within 1 day-an objectively absurd result to be sure.
73 .

The Defendants have also (on objectively pretextual bases) opened investigations

against Plaintiffs for the OC 1 and OC2 projects.
74.

The PUC and its hearing officers are now simply irretrievably biased against, and

retaliatorily targeting, the Plaintiffs and taking Plaintiffs ' property as part of their ongoing coverup
to escape accountability for the abuse of power and unlawful and tortious conduct against the
Plaintiffs, and to chill Plaintiffs' speech and drive Plaintiffs out of the State of Vermont and
unlawfully take their property.
75.

The Defendants' illegitimate and unlawful actions have upset settled investment-

backed expectations reasonably held by Plaintiffs when the Plaintiffs' investments were made in
each of the Chelsea, Apple Hill, OC 1, OC2 and OC3 solar projects.
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76.

Plaintiffs have been denied the CPG for the Chelsea solar project, have had the

CPGs for the Chelsea and Apple Hill projects unreasonably delayed, had the PPAs threatened to
be terminated and/or purportedly terminated for the QCl, QC2 and OC3 projects, and had their
CPGs for the QC 1 and OC2 projects threatened to be revoked for no legitimate regulatory reason.
Instead all the PUC's actions against Plaintiffs have been and are motivated by political pressure
from neighbors and other residents and the legislators that those neighbors enlisted in their cause,
in retaliation for Allco's speech and exercise of its right to petition, and by the PUC's desire to
coverup its misdeeds and true motivations and drive Allco and its investments from Vermont.
77.

The Defendants' denial of the CPG for the Chelsea solar project has caused a

serious financial loss to the Plaintiffs', exceeding one million dollars.
78.

The Defendants' delays in issuing the CPGs for the Chelsea and Apple Hill projects

have caused a serious financial loss to the Plaintiffs', exceeding one million dollars.
79.

The Defendants' threatened and purported terminations of the QC 1, OC2 and OC3

projects have caused a serious financial loss to the Plaintiffs', exceeding one million dollars.
80.

The Defendants' threats to revoke the CPGs for the QCl and OC2 projects have

caused a serious financial loss to the Plaintiffs', exceeding one million dollars.
81.

The PUC's actions are even more egregious because they support the fossil fuel

industry's and their allies' continued destruction of the environment. Last November a new report
by 11,258 scientists in 153 countries from a broad range of disciplines warned that the planet
"clearly and unequivocally faces a climate emergency."4
82.

In the April 10, 2019 edition of the Boston Globe, Bill McKibben, the Schumann

Distinguished Scholar at Middlebury College, wrote:

4

"More than 11,000 scientists from around the world declare a 'climate emergency."' Washington
Post, November 5, 2019, https://www.washingtonpost.com/science/2019/11/05/more-thanscientists-around-world-declare-climate-emergency/.
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The basic stability of our planet has been upended in our lifetimes. Unless
we act quickly, the changes we've seen so far will be mild by comparison
with what comes next. Science . .. makes clear that without an emergency
transition away from coal and gas and oil, we can expect such rapid shifts
that our ability to maintain civilizations will be in doubt ... Unless we goose
the pace with government action, the world that we some day power with
clean energy would be a dirty world, a broken planet. 5
83.

Allowing excessive carbon dioxide emissions to imperil the climate system

jeopardizes the fundamental rights of all and of future generations. If fossil fuel emissions are not
rapidly abated, then our children, grand-children and future generations will confront an
inhospitable future.
84.

Instead of acting to combat such harm, the PUC has willfully ignored this

impending harm, and is more concerned with covering up its own misdeeds. The PUC simply
"presses ahead toward calamity. It is as if an asteroid were barreling toward Earth and the
government decided to shut down our only defenses." Juliana v. United States, No. 18-36082 (9th
Cir. January 17, 2020) at 32 (Staton, J., dissenting).

PARTIES
85.

Allco Renewable Energy Limited and the other Plaintiffs are developers, owners

and operators of solar electric facilities . Each project constitutes or will constitute a separate "small
power production facility" (a "QF") within the meaning of Section 210 of PURP A, and Section
3(17)(A) of the Federal Power Act. Allco's corporate mission is to combat climate change, enforce
laws that benefit developers of solar energy QFs on a broad scale, and open up markets broadly to
solar QFs by overcoming the traditional reluctance of utilities to purchase from QFs. Allco's
mission includes fighting the devastating environmental impacts from burning fossil fuels,
including without limitation the adverse effects that continued use of fossil-fuel generation will

have on humans and endangered species. See, e.g., Winding Creek Solar LLC v. Peterman, 932

5

https://www.bostonglobe.com/opinion/2019/04/10/the-clock-keeps-ticking-fight-saveplanet/R8ZrHbh2yF qA8bNXe6wdjJ/story.html.
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F.3d 861 (9th Cir. 2019) (declaring California's implementation of PURPA under its Re-MAT
program invalid); Alica Renewable Energy Ltd. v. Mass. Elec. Co., 208 F. Supp. 3d 390 (D. Mass.
2016) aff'd 875 F.3d 64 (1 st Cir. 2017) (declaring Massachusetts' implementation of PURPA
invalid); Windham Solar LLC, 156 FERC

,r

61,042 (2016), Windham Solar LLC, 157 FERC

i!61, 134 (2016) (declaring Connecticut's implementation of PURPA invalid); Windham Solar
LLC v. Pub. Utils. Regulatory Authority, Docket HHD-CV-HHD-CV19-6119928-S (Conn. Sup.

Ct. filed November 13, 2019) (challenging the approval of incentives for fossil fuel generation
under Connecticut's public trust doctrine).

The PUC and the PUC Commissioners do not like

Plaintiffs, Plaintiffs' speech, Plaintiffs' mission, and Plaintiffs' exercise of its right to petition to
advance its mission and hold state utility commissions accountable.
86.

Plaintiff Otter Creek Solar LLC ("OCS") is the owner and developer of the QC 1,

OC2 and OC3 solar projects and other solar projects in Vermont. Plaintiff OCS is party to a
contract with VEPP dated August 27, 2018, for the sale of wholesale sale of energy from OCS'
OCl project. Plaintiff OCS is party to a contract with VEPP dated February 3, 2018, for the sale
of wholesale sale of energy from OCS' OC2 project. Plaintiff OCS is party to a contract with
VEPP dated January 30, 2019, for the sale of wholesale sale of energy from OCS ' OC3 project.
87.

Plaintiff Chelsea Solar LLC is the owner and developer of the Chelsea solar project.

Plaintiff Chelsea Solar LLC is party to a contract with VEPP dated June 20, 2013, for the sale of
wholesale sale of energy from Chelsea Solar project.
88.

Plaintiff Apple Hill Solar LLC is the owner and developer of the Apple Hill solar

project. Plaintiff Apple Hill Solar LLC is party to a contract with VEPP dated May 12, 2014, for
the sale of wholesale sale of energy from the Apple Hill solar project.
89.

Plaintiff PLH LLC ("PLH") is an Indiana limited liability company with its office

located at 145 Pine Haven Shores, Suite 1000A, Shelburne, Vermont 05482, and is the owner of
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the site of the Chelsea solar project, the Apple Hill solar project, and the OC 1, OC2 and OC3 solar
projects.
90.

Defendant James Volz is a resident of Vermont and is the former Chair of the

Vermont Public Utility Commission.
91.

Defendant Anthony Roisman is a resident of Vermont and is the current Chair of

the Vermont Public Utility Commission.
92.

Defendant Sarah Hofmann is a resident of Vermont and is a Commissioner of the

Vermont Public Utility Commission.
93.

Defendant Margaret Cheney is a resident of Vermont and is, or acted as, a

Commissioner of the Vermont Public Utility Commission at all relevant times. 6
94.

Defendant Vermont Public Utility Commission is an agency of the State of

Vermont.
95.

Defendant Phil Scott is the governor of the State of Vermont and is sued in his

official capacity.
96.

The State of Vermont is a state of the United States.

97.

Scott, Volz, Roisman, Hofmann, Cheney, the Public Utility Commission and the

State of Vermont are collectively referred to as the "State Defendants."
98.

Defendant VEPP Inc. is a Vermont non-profit corporation resident in Vermont and

the entity designated as the standard offer agent to act under 30 V.S.A. § 8005a.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE

99.

This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§ 1331 because the action brings claims arising under federal law, and because of diversity of
6

Under information and belief, Cheney's term as a Commissioner expired in March 2019, and she
was not re-appointed. Under Vermont law, 30 V.S.A. § 3, she is only permitted to act in connection
with cases that she heard all or substantially all of prior to the expiration of her term, and is only
entitled to a salary proportionate with such case work.
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citizenship under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and the amount in controversy exceeds $75,000. The Court
also has exclusive jurisdiction of the claims under the Federal Power Act. 16 U.S.C. § 825p.
Supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiffs' state law claims is pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367.
100.

The Court is empowered to grant declaratory relief by 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201, 2202 and

42 U.S.C. § 1983 and Rule 57 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.
101 .

This Court is empowered to grant preliminary and permanent injunctive relief by,

inter alia, 28 U.S.C § 2202; Rule 65 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure; and Ex Parte Young,
209 U.S. 123 (1908).
102.

This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because each Defendant

resides in Vermont and conducts a substantial portion of his or her duties in the District of
Vermont. The PUC is located at 112 State Street, Montpelier, Vermont. VEPP is located in
Manchester Center, Vermont.
103.

Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 139l(b)(l) and (2) because a

substantial part of the events giving rise to this action occurred in the District of Vermont.
CLAIMS FOR RELIEF
COUNTI
VIOLATION OF PLAINTIFFS' RIGHT TO FREE SPEECH
(Violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution
and 42 U.S.C. § 1983)
104.

Plaintiffs restate and incorporate by reference each and every allegation m

preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
105.

The Defendants' denial of the CPG for the Chelsea project, delays in issuing the

CPGs for the Chelsea and Apple Hill projects, the investigations commenced by Defendants
against Plaintiffs, the unlawful threats to revoke CPGs and PPAs, the termination of PPAs and the
Defendants continued targeting and adverse actions taken against Plaintiffs were and are all
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designed to chill Plaintiffs' free speech, designed to prefer neighbors' speech, designed to use
Plaintiffs as a scapegoat to save the PUC Commissioners' political standing and jobs, all for no
valid regulatory reason, were taken in retaliation for Plaintiffs' speech against Defendants, and
were taken to chill Plaintiffs' exercise of its right to free speech and in retaliation for speech the
Defendants do not like.
106.

The Defendants' retaliation and targeting of Plaintiffs on account of the exercise by

Plaintiffs of their right to speak violates their right to freedom of expression because it imposes a
viewpoint-based restriction on the Plaintiffs' participation in a public forum.
107.

Defendants' retaliation and targeting of Plaintiffs on account of the exercise by

Plaintiffs of their right to speak also violates their right to freedom of expression because the
retaliation was and is intended to chill the exercise by Plaintiffs' and others' future exercise of
freedom of expression.
108.

Plaintiffs engaged in protected conduct in repeatedly criticizing and challenging the

State Defendants' conduct, appealing adverse decisions made by the State Defendants, exercising
their rights to use their property to communicate a message of climate protection,7 and countering
the Defendants' support of the fossil fuel industry's continued destruction of the environment.

7

A good example of how a large solar farm is speech can be found in the words of Vermonters.
During a public hearing for a 2.2-megawatt solar project in Sudbury, Vermont, Sudbury resident
Jeannie Albert (starting at 39:46 of the video) states:
I want to support solar projects. I happen to think that when I see them that
they make me feel good .... I want it to be on record that when I drive by
and see a large blanket of solar panels, I'm thinking nobody died to produce
that energy. And that's really important to me. So what do we get out of it?
We get energy that's clean, we get energy that no one has to like go overseas
and die so that we could have it. 7
Solar facilities like Plaintiffs' small-to-medium-sized facility, speak to Vermonters such as Jeannie
Albert, and communicate a message of climate protection, and that there is an alternative to wars
for control of fossil fuels, and the use of climate-destroying fossil fuels. Solar facilities
communicate hope for the future. And Plaintiffs intend to communicate that message.
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109.

As a result of Plaintiffs' exercise of protected conduct, the Defendants targeted

Plaintiffs as a scapegoat to protect themselves, denied the Plaintiffs the CPG for the Chelsea solar
project, delayed issuing the CPGs for the Chelsea and Apple Hill projects, commenced
investigations against Plaintiffs, threatened to revoke CPGs and PPAs, terminated PPAs and
continued targeting and taking adverse actions, all based upon pretextual reasons.
110.

Plaintiffs' protected conduct was a "substantial" and a "motivating factor" in the

adverse actions that Defendants have taken, and continue to take, against Plaintiffs.
111.

Defendants' conduct was not taken to reasonably advance a legitimate regulatory

goal, but rather was an abuse of power designed to save their positions, save their own political
standing, to provide pretextual reasons for their abuse of power and to chill Plaintiffs' exercise of
expression.
112.

By acting under the color of state law to retaliate against Plaintiffs, the Defendants

have deprived, and have chilled, Plaintiffs' rights guaranteed by the Constitution and laws of the
United States, violating 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
113.

By acting under the color of state law to deprive Plaintiffs of rights guaranteed by

the Constitution and laws of the United States, the Defendants have violated and continue to violate
42 u.s.c. § 1983.
114.

All Defendants conspired to deprive, and participated in the deprivation of,

Plaintiffs' rights through their affirmative actions, and are jointly and severally liable therefor.
115.

As a result, Plaintiffs are entitled to damages, and to declaratory and injunctive

relief (i) restoring the Plaintiffs to the position they would have been in but for Defendants'
unlawful conduct, which includes compelling the State Defendants to issue the certificate of public
good for each of the Chelsea and Apple Hill solar projects, (ii) re-instating the PPAs for the OC 1,
OC2 and OC3 projects, (iii) to pay a monetary award in the nature of back-pay and/or front-pay to
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restore Plaintiffs to where they would have been but for Defendants' unlawful conduct, (iv)
enjoining the current PUC Commissioners from deciding any issue involving Plaintiffs, and (v)
appointing an independent panel to act instead of the PUC to decide issues and cases involving
Plaintiffs.

COUNT II
VIOLATION OF PLAINTIFFS' RIGHT TO PETITION
(Violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution
and 42 U.S.C. § 1983)
116.

Plaintiffs restate and incorporate by reference each and every allegation m

preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
117.

The Defendants' denial of the CPG for the Chelsea project, delays in issuing the

CPGs for the Chelsea and Apple Hill projects, the investigations commenced by Defendants
against Plaintiffs, the unlawful threats to revoke CPGs and PPAs, the termination of PPAs and the
Defendants continued targeting and adverse actions taken against Plaintiffs were and are all
designed to chill Plaintiffs' right to petition, designed to prefer neighbors' speech and right to
petition, designed to use Plaintiffs as a scapegoat to save their political standing and jobs, and were
taken without valid regulatory reasons in retaliation for Plaintiffs exercise of its right to petition
against Defendants. All such action taken by Defendants were intended to chill Plaintiffs' exercise
of its right to petition and in retaliation for the exercise by Plaintiffs of protected conduct which
Defendants did not like.
118.

Defendants' retaliation and targeting of Plaintiffs on account of the exercise by

Plaintiffs of their right to petition violate their rights to freedom of expression because they impose
a viewpoint-based restriction on the Plaintiffs' ability to petition the government for redress of
gnevances.
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119.

Defendants' retaliation and targeting of Plaintiffs on account of the exercise by

Plaintiffs of their right to speak also violate their right to freedom of expression because the
retaliation was and is intended to chill the exercise by Plaintiffs' and others' future exercise of the
ability to petition the government for redress of grievances.
120.

Plaintiffs engaged in protected conduct in repeatedly criticizing and challenging the

State Defendants' conduct, appealing adverse decisions made by the State Defendants, exercising
their rights to use their property to communicate a message of climate protection, and countering
the Defendants' support of the fossil fuel industry's continued destruction of the environment.
121 .

As a result of Plaintiffs' exercise of protected conduct, the Defendants targeted

Plaintiffs as a scapegoat to protect themselves, denied the Plaintiffs the CPG for the Chelsea solar
project, delayed issuing the CPGs for the Chelsea and Apple Hill projects, commenced
investigations against Plaintiffs, threatened to revoke CPGs and PP As, terminated PPAs and
continued targeting and taking adverse actions, all based upon pretextual reasons.
122.

Plaintiffs' conduct was a "substantial" and a "motivating factor" in the adverse

actions that Defendants have taken, and continue to take, against Plaintiffs.
123.

Defendants' conduct was not taken to reasonably advance a legitimate regulatory

goal, but rather was an abuse of power designed to save their positions, save their own political
standing, to provide pretextual reasons for their abuse of power and to chill Plaintiffs' exercise of
its right to petition.
124.

By acting under the color of state law to retaliate against Plaintiffs, the Defendants

have deprived, and have chilled, Plaintiffs' rights guaranteed by the Constitution and laws of the
United States, violating 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
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125.

By acting under the color of state law to deprive Plaintiffs of rights guaranteed by

the Constitution and laws of the United States, the Defendants have violated and continue to violate
42 U.S.C. § 1983.
126.

All Defendants conspired to deprive, and participated in the deprivation of,

Plaintiffs' rights through their affirmative actions, and are jointly and severally liable therefor.
127.

As a result, Plaintiffs are entitled to damages, and to declaratory and injunctive

relief (i) restoring the Plaintiffs to the position they would have been in but for Defendants'
unlawful conduct, which includes compelling the State Defendants to issue the certificate of public
good for the Chelsea and Apple Hill solar projects, (ii) re-instating the PPAs for the OCl , OC2
and OC3 projects, (iii) to pay a monetary award in the nature of back-pay and/or front-pay to
restore Plaintiffs to where they would have been but for Defendants' unlawful conduct, (iv)
enjoining the current PUC Commissioners from deciding any issue involving Plaintiffs, and (v)
appointing an independent panel to act instead of the PUC Commissioners to decide issues and
cases involving Plaintiffs.
COUNTIII
VIOLATION OF CHAPTER I, ARTICLE 13 OF
THE VERMONT CONSTITUTION
(Freedom of speech)

128.

Plaintiffs restate and incorporate by reference each and every allegation in

preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
129.

Chapter I, Article 13 of the Vermont Constitution affirmatively grants that, "That

the people have a right to freedom of speech, and of writing and publishing their sentiments,
concerning the transactions of government, and therefore the freedom of the press ought not to be
restrained."
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130.

The Defendants' denial of the CPG for the Chelsea project, delays in issuing the

CPGs for the Chelsea and Apple Hill projects, the investigations commenced by Defendants
against Plaintiffs, the unlawful threats to revoke CPGs and PPAs, the termination of PPAs and the
Defendants' continued targeting and adverse actions taken against Plaintiffs were and are all
designed to chill Plaintiffs' free speech, designed to prefer neighbors' speech, designed to use
Plaintiffs as a scapegoat to save the PUC Commissioners' political standing and jobs, all for no
valid regulatory reason, were taken in retaliation for Plaintiffs' speech against Defendants, and
were taken to chill Plaintiffs' exercise of its right to free speech and in retaliation for speech the
Defendants do not like.
131.

Defendants' retaliation and targeting of Plaintiffs on account of the exercise by

Plaintiffs of their right to speak violates Chapter I, Article 13 of the Vermont Constitution because
it imposes a viewpoint-based restriction on the Plaintiffs' participation in a public forum.
132.

Defendants' retaliation and targeting of Plaintiffs on account of the exercise by

Plaintiffs of their right to speak also violates Chapter I, Article 13 of the Vermont Constitution
because the retaliation was and is intended to chill the exercise by Plaintiffs' and others' future
exercise of freedom of expression.
133.

Plaintiffs engaged in protected conduct in repeatedly criticizing and challenging the

State Defendants' conduct, appealing adverse decisions made by the State Defendants, exercising
their rights to use their property to communicate a message of climate protection, and countering
the Defendants' support of the fossil fuel industry's continued destruction of the environment.
134.

As a result of Plaintiffs ' exercise of protected conduct, the Defendants targeted

Plaintiffs as a scapegoat to protect themselves, denying the Plaintiffs the CPG for the Chelsea solar
project, threatening to withdraw CPGs for other projects, instituting pretextual investigations, and
taking other adverse actions based upon pretextual reasons.
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135.

Plaintiffs' conduct was a "substantial" and a "motivating factor" in the adverse

actions that Defendants have taken, and continue to take, against Plaintiffs.
136.

Defendants' conduct was not taken to reasonably advance a legitimate regulatory

goal, but rather was an abuse of power designed to save their positions, save their own political
standing, to provide pretextual reasons for their abuse of power and to chill Plaintiffs' exercise of
express10n.
13 7.

All Defendants conspired to deprive, and participated in the deprivation of,

Plaintiffs' rights through their affirmative actions, and are jointly and severally liable therefor.
138.

As a result, Plaintiffs are entitled to damages, and to declaratory and injunctive

relief (i) restoring the Plaintiffs to the position they would have been in but for Defendants'
unlawful conduct, which includes compelling the State Defendants to issue the certificate of public
good for the Chelsea and Apple Hill solar projects, (ii) re-instating the PPAs for the OCl , OC2
and OC3 projects, (iii) to pay a monetary award in the nature of back-pay and/or front-pay to
restore Plaintiffs to where they would have been but for Defendants' unlawful conduct, (iv)
enjoining the current PUC Commissioners from deciding any issue involving Plaintiffs, and (v)
appointing an independent panel to act instead of the PUC Commissioners to decide issues and
cases involving Plaintiffs.
COUNTIV
VIOLATION OF CHAPTER I, ARTICLE 20 OF
THE VERMONT CONSTITUTION
(Right to Petition)

139.

Plaintiffs restate and incorporate by reference each and every allegation in

preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
140.

Chapter I, Article 20 of the Vermont Constitution affirmatively grants that the

people shall have the right to petition for redress of grievances.
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141.

The Defendants' denial of the CPG for the Chelsea project, delays in issuing the

CPGs for the Chelsea and Apple Hill projects, the investigations commenced by Defendants
against Plaintiffs, the unlawful threats to revoke CPGs and PPAs, the termination of PPAs and the
Defendants' continued targeting and adverse actions taken against Plaintiffs were and are all
designed to chill Plaintiffs' right to petition, designed to prefer neighbors' speech and right to
petition, designed to use Plaintiffs as a scapegoat to save their political standing and jobs, and were
taken without valid regulatory reasons in retaliation for Plaintiffs' exercise of its right to petition
against Defendants. All such action taken by Defendants was intended to chill Plaintiffs' exercise
of its right to petition and in retaliation for the exercise by Plaintiffs of protected conduct that
Defendants did not like.
142.

Defendants' retaliation and targeting of Plaintiffs on account of the exercise by

Plaintiffs of their right to speak and to petition violates Chapter I, Article 20 of the Vermont
Constitution because it imposes a viewpoint-based restriction on the Plaintiffs' ability to petition
the government for redress of grievances.
143 .

Defendants' retaliation and targeting of Plaintiffs on account of the exercise by

Plaintiffs of their right to speak also violates Chapter I, Article 20 of the Vermont Constitution
because the retaliation was and is intended to chill the exercise by Plaintiffs' and others' future
exercise of the right to petition.
144.

All Defendants conspired to deprive, and participated in the deprivation of,

Plaintiffs' rights through their affirmative actions, and are jointly and severally liable therefor.
145.

As a result, Plaintiffs are entitled to damages, and to declaratory and injunctive

relief (i) restoring the Plaintiffs to the position they would have been in but for Defendants'
unlawful conduct, which includes compelling the State Defendants to issue the certificate of public
good for the Chelsea and Apple Hill solar projects, (ii) re-instating the PPAs for the OCl, OC2
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and OC3 projects, (iii) to pay a monetary award in the nature of back-pay and/or front-pay to
restore Plaintiffs to where they would have been but for Defendants' unlawful conduct, (iv)
enjoining the current PUC Commissioners from deciding any issue involving Plaintiffs, and (v)
appointing an independent panel to act instead of the PUC Commissioners to decide issues and
cases involving Plaintiffs.
COUNTV
UNLAWFUL TAKING
(Violation of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution
and 42 U.S.C. § 1983)
146.

Plaintiffs restate and incorporate by reference each and every allegation m

preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
14 7.

Plaintiffs made substantial investments in the Chelsea, Apple Hill, OC 1, OC2 and

OC3 solar projects based upon reasonable investment-backed expectations at the time the
investments were made.
148.

Those investments were encouraged by the State of Vermont and its policies.

149.

The Plaintiffs' investment-backed expectations were that the State Defendants

would continue the policy of approving solar projects in accordance with its prior precedent.
150.

That prior precedent included approving large electric and other facilities in the

Bennington rural conservation zone, and other parts of Vermont with minimal to no screening of
the facilities.
151.

At the time it made its investments, Allco had a reasonable expectation that any

change in regulatory policy would not be retroactively applied.
152.

The Defendants' adverse actions against Plaintiffs simply unilaterally seek to

remake regional interstate wholesale energy markets, retroactively abrogate the federal and state
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government's policies of promoting small renewable energy generation, and upset settled,
investment-backed expectations after private industry has already committed to its investments.
153.

The Defendants' denial of the CPG for the Chelsea solar project, and the delays

incurred during the CPG process for the Chelsea project retroactively abrogate the federal and state
government's policy of promoting small renewable energy generation, and upset settled,
investment-backed expectations after private industry has already committed to its investments,
violating the Takings Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution, made
applicable to state and local governments by the Fourteenth Amendment. Chicago, B. & Q.R. Co.
v. Chicago, 166 U.S. 226, 17 S. Ct. 581, 41 L. Ed. 979 (1897)).
154.

Similarly, the Defendants' termination of the OCl, OC2 and OC3 PPAs violates

the Takings Clause and upsets settled, investment-backed expectations after private industry has
already committed to its investments.
155.

The Defendants' delay in issuing a CPG for the Apple Hill solar project violates

the Takings Clause and upsets settled, investment-backed expectations after private industry has
already committed to its investments.
156.

The Defendants' threats to revoke the existing CPGs and/or the power purchase

contracts for the OC 1 and OC2 solar projects violate the Takings Clause and upset settled,
investment-backed expectations after private industry has already committed to its investments.
157.

The other actions taken by Defendants to harm Plaintiffs' property and target

Plaintiffs violate the Takings Clause and upset settled, investment-backed expectations after
private industry has already committed to its investments.
158.

The Takings Clause prohibits the government from taking private property unless

(a) it is for a "public use" and (b) "just compensation" is paid to the owner. U.S. Const. amend. V
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& XIV; see also Brown v. Legal Foundation of Wash. , 538 U.S. 216, 231-232 (2003) (making
clear the Clause's two separate requirements)).
159.

If the government "fails to meet the 'public use' requirement," then "that is the end

of the inquiry"-"[n]o amount of compensation can authorize such action." Lingle v. Chevron
US.A. Inc. 544 U.S . 528 (2005). As the United States Supreme Court has explained: "it has long

been accepted that the sovereign" (the government) "may not take the property of A for the sole
purpose of transferring it to another private party B." Keio v. City of New London, 545 U.S. 477
(2005).
160.

"Nor would the [government] be allowed to take property under the mere pretext

of a public purpose, when its actual purpose was to bestow a private benefit." Id. at 478.
161.

If a taking is designed simply "to benefit a particular class of identifiable

individuals"-here, neighbors to the proposed solar project-then the taking is not for a "public
use" and is therefore unconstitutional. Id.
162.

Significantly, takings with only an "incidental" public benefit "are forbidden by the

Public Use Clause." Id. at 490 (Kennedy, J., concurring).
163.

Unconstitutional takings commonly arise m the context of the government

attempting to take land or other real-property interests. But that is not the extent of the Takings
Clause's reach. When "the demand for money ... operate[ s] upon ... an identified property interest
by directing the owner of a particular piece of property to make a monetary payment," the Takings
Clause applies. Koontz v. St. Johns River Water Mngmt. Distr. 570 U.S. 595, 613 (2013).
164.

The Takings Clause protects against uncompensated takings of personal, as well as

real, property. Horne v. Dep 't ofAgriculture, 135 S. Ct. 2419, 2425-26 (2015).
165.

The Defendants' denial of the CPG for the Chelsea solar project, and the delays

incurred during the CPG process, violate the Taking Clause as the CPG was denied under the mere
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pretext of a public purpose, when its actual purpose was to bestow a private benefit on the
neighbors, and the State Defendants in their individual capacities. Any purported public benefit
from that action and the Defendants' other actions is merely "incidental."
166.

Here the taking is designed simply "to benefit a particular class of identifiable

individuals"- here, neighbors to the proposed solar project and the State Defendants in their
individual capacities. Thus, the taking is not for a "public use" and is therefore unconstitutional.
167.

Similarly, the Defendants' delay in issuing a CPG for the Apple Hill solar project

and the Defendants' threats to revoke the existing CPGs and/or the power purchase contracts for
the OC 1 and OC2 solar projects, and the purported terminations of the PPAs for the OC 1, OC2
and OC3 projects, are not for a public use, but are merely, part of the scheme of the pretextual
taking related to the Chelsea solar project, and simply "to benefit a particular class of identifiable
individuals"- here, neighbors to the proposed solar project and the State Defendants in their
individual capacities.
168.

Even if the Defendants' actions effected a taking of private property for a public

use or purpose, they are still unconstitutional under the "unconstitutional conditions" doctrine, as
applied in the context of the Takings Clause. Under that doctrine, the Defendants may not
condition nor deny a permit unless the Defendants are able to demonstrate that the public ' s need
bears an "essential nexus" and "rough proportionality" to actual, public impacts associated with
exercise of the Plaintiffs' right or privilege; if the condition fails either standard, it effects an
unconstitutional taking of private property.
169.

Even if the Defendants' actions effected a taking of private property for a public

use or purpose, they still are uncompensated and thus violates the Takings Clause.
170.

The Defendants' actions also violate the Taking Clause based upon the three-factor

test of Penn Central Transportation v. New York City, 438 U.S. 104, 124, 57 L. Ed. 2d 631 , 98 S.
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Ct. 2646 (1978), in which the Supreme Court identified three factors that have significance in
determining whether a government regulation constitutes a taking: ( 1) the character of the
governmental action; (2) the extent to which the regulation had interfered with distinct investmentbacked expectations; and (3) the economic impact of the regulation on the claimant.
171.

The Supreme Court has "generally eschewed any set formula" for identifying

regulatory takings, instead "preferring to engage in essentially ad hoc, factual inquiries" to
determine in each case whether the challenged property restriction rises to the level of a taking.

Lucas v. S.C. Coastal Council, 505 U.S. 1003, 1015, 112 S. Ct. 2886, 120 L. Ed. 2d 798 (1992)
(alterations omitted) (internal quotation marks omitted). Paramount to the inquiry are the familiar
factors set forth in Penn Central. "Primary among those factors are '[t]he economic impact of the
regulation on the claimant and, particularly, the extent to which the regulation has interfered with
distinct investment-backed expectations."' Lingle, 544 U.S. at 538-39 (alteration in original)
(quoting Penn Central, 438 U.S. at 124). Also telling, is the "character of the governmental
action."
172.

Here, the character of the Defendants' actions is that they were not taken for any

legitimate regulatory reason but were taken to benefit neighbors and individual PUC
Commissioners, and in retaliation for Plaintiffs' protected conduct. Defendants' actions against
Plaintiffs were and are all designed to chill Plaintiffs' free speech, designed to prefer neighbors'
speech, designed to chill Plaintiffs' right to petition, designed to use Plaintiffs as a scapegoat to
save the PUC Commissioners' political standing and jobs, and were taken in retaliation for
Plaintiffs' speech against Defendants.
173.

The denial of a CPG for the Chelsea project was "motivated, not by legitimate

regulatory concerns, but by political pressure from neighbors and other residents," who had their
pressure super-charged by Klein, Morrissey and other legislators. See, Del Monte Dunes at
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Monterey, Ltd v. City ofMonterey, 920 F.2d 1496, 1508 (9th Cir. 1990) (recognizing constitutional

claim for denial of a permit "motivated, not by legitimate regulatory concerns, but by political
pressure from neighbors and other residents.") All the other adverse acts taken by Defendants
against Plaintiffs that followed were retaliatory and an elaborate scheme to coverup the unlawful
motivations behind the denial of the Chelsea CPG.
174.

Here, the character of the Defendants' actions is offensive to the rights guaranteed

to Plaintiffs under the United States and Vermont Constitutions.
175.

The second Penn Central factor is the extent to which the regulation had interfered

with distinct investment-backed expectations. Here the Plaintiffs had reasonable investmentbacked expectations that were violated, crushed and breached by the Defendants.
176.

Those investments were encouraged by the State of Vermont and its policies.

177.

The Plaintiffs' investment-backed expectations were that the State Defendants

would continue the policy of approving solar projects in accordance with its prior precedent.
178.

That prior precedent included approving large electric and other facilities in the

Bennington rural conservation zone, and other parts of Vermont with minimal to no screening of
the facilities.
179.

Plaintiffs' reasonable investment-backed expectations were based on the

Defendants' action starting in 2013 wherein the State of Vermont rolled out the red carpet for solar
developers. The announcement of the first competitive solicitation was greeted with fanfare and
the State sought to widely distribute notice of the solicitation to maximize competition. The
message to developers was: -

come to Vermont and invest your time and money in developing

solar in Vermont because we are solar friendly. At that time, that was true, and in reliance thereon
Plaintiffs proceeded to invest in solar development and projects in Vermont. The Vermont law
that authorized the competitive bidding process and the milestones set in the Vermont standard
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offer contract assumed that a permit from the PUC to build the solar project would take only 3-4
months to be received.
180.

Significant sized solar projects comparable to all of Plaintiffs' projects were in plain

view, clearly indicating to Allco that Vermont and its permitting system was friendly to solar
everywhere.
181 .

Plaintiffs also had and have a reasonable investment-backed expectation that the

Defendants would not act based on political pressure from neighbors and other residents as
opposed to legitimate regulatory reasons.
182.

Plaintiffs also had a reasonable investment-backed expectation that the Defendants

would not act in retaliation for Plaintiffs' exercise of protected conduct.
183.

Plaintiffs also had a reasonable investment-backed expectation that Legislators

would not pressure the PUC into acting to target Plaintiffs in response to objections from a handful
of neighbors.
184.

Plaintiffs also had a reasonable investment-backed expectation that any change in

regulatory policy would not be retroactively applied.
185.

The third Penn Central factor is the economic impact of the regulation on the

claimant. With regard to this factor, "what has evolved in the case law is a threshold requirement
that plaintiffs show 'serious financial loss' from the regulatory imposition in order to merit
compensation." Cienega Gardens v. United States, 331 F.3d 1319, 1340 (Fed. Cir. 2003) (citation
omitted).
186.

Defendants' regulatory actions have caused and will cause millions of dollars in

damage, a serious financial loss by any measure, and will render certain assets, such as the
terminated PP As, worthless.
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187.

By acting under the color of state law to deprive Plaintiffs of rights guaranteed by

the Constitution and laws of the United States, the Defendants have violated and continue to violate
42 U.S.C. § 1983.
188.

All Defendants conspired to deprive, and participated in the deprivation of,

Plaintiffs' rights and the unlawful taking through their affirmative actions, and are jointly and
severally liable therefor.
189.

As a result, Plaintiffs are entitled to damages, and to declaratory and injunctive

relief (i) restoring the Plaintiffs to the position they would have been in but for Defendants'
unlawful conduct, which includes compelling the State Defendants to issue the certificate of public
good for the Chelsea and Apple Hill solar projects, (ii) re-instating the PPAs for the OCl, OC2
and OC3 projects, (iii) to pay a monetary award in the nature of back-pay and/or front-pay to
restore Plaintiffs to where they would have been but for Defendants' unlawful conduct, (iv)
enjoining the current PUC Commissioners from deciding any issue involving Plaintiffs, and (v)
appointing an independent panel to act instead of the PUC Commissioners to decide issues and
cases involving Plaintiffs.
COUNT VI
UNLAWFUL TAKING
(Violation of Ch. I, Art. 2 of the Vermont Constitution)

190.

Plaintiffs restate and incorporate by reference each of the preceding paragraphs as

if fully set forth herein.
191.

Defendants' actions complained of herein also constitute an unlawful taking of

Plaintiffs' property under Ch. I, Art. 2 of the Vermont Constitution.
192.

All Defendants conspired to deprive, and participated in the deprivation of,

Plaintiffs' rights and the unlawful taking through their affirmative actions, and are jointly and
severally liable therefor.
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193.

As a result, Plaintiffs are entitled to damages, and to declaratory and injunctive

relief (i) restoring the Plaintiffs to the position they would have been in but for Defendants'
unlawful conduct, which includes compelling the State Defendants to issue the certificate of public
good for the Chelsea and Apple Hill solar projects, (ii) re-instating the PPAs for the OC 1, OC2
and OC3 projects, (iii) to pay a monetary award in the nature of back-pay and/or front-pay to
restore Plaintiffs to where they would have been but for Defendants' unlawful conduct, (iv)
enjoining the current PUC Commissioners from deciding any issue involving Plaintiffs, and (v)
appointing an independent panel to act instead of the PUC Commissioners to decide issues and
cases involving Plaintiffs.
COUNT VII
EQUAL PROTECTION
(Violation of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution
and 42 U.S.C. § 1983)

194.

Plaintiffs restate and incorporate by reference each and every allegation in each of

the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
195.

Defendants' actions complained of herein also constitute a violation of Plaintiffs'

rights to equal protection under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution.
196.

Defendants have treated, and treat, Plaintiffs' projects differently as compared to

similarly situated projects.
197.

By acting under the color of state law to deprive Plaintiffs of rights guaranteed by

the Constitution and laws of the United States, the Defendants have violated and continue to violate
42 U.S.C. § 1983 .
198.

All Defendants conspired to deprive, and participated in the deprivation of,

Plaintiffs' rights through their affirmative actions, and are jointly and severally liable therefor.
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199.

As a result, Plaintiffs are entitled to damages, and to declaratory and injunctive

relief (i) restoring the Plaintiffs to the position they would have been in but for Defendants'
unlawful conduct, which includes compelling the State Defendants to issue the certificate of public
good for the Chelsea and Apple Hill solar projects, (ii) re-instating the PPAs for the OCl , OC2
and OC3 projects, (iii) to pay a monetary award in the nature of back-pay and/or front-pay to
restore Plaintiffs to where they would have been but for Defendants' unlawful conduct, (iv)
enjoining the current PUC Commissioners from deciding any issue involving Plaintiffs, and (v)
appointing an independent panel to act instead of the PUC Commissioners to decide issues and
cases involving Plaintiffs.
COUNT VIII
COMMON BENEFITS CLAUSE
(Violation of Chapter I, Article 7 of the Vermont Constitution)

200.

Plaintiffs restate and incorporate by reference each and every allegation in the

preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
201.

Defendants' actions complained of herein also constitute a violation of Plaintiffs'

rights to equal protection under the Common Benefits Clause of the Vermont Constitution.
202.

Defendants have treated, and treat, Plaintiffs projects differently as compared to

similarly situated projects.
203.

The Common Benefits Clause of the Vermont Constitution, which guarantees equal

protection of the laws, in pertinent part, reads,
That government is, or ought to be, instituted for the common benefit, protection,
and security of the people, nation, or community, and not for the particular
emolument or advantage of any single person, family, or set of persons, who are a
part only of that community .. .
Vt. Const., ch. I, art 7.
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204.

"[T]he text is the affirmative and unequivocal mandate of the first section,

providing that government is established for the common benefit of the people and community as
a whole." Baker v. State, 170 Vt. 194, 208 (2000) ("Baker").

"The concept of government

exercising its authority inequitably and without a rational basis or for the emolument of a particular
group [or against a particular person] was anathema to that end." In re Town Highway No. 20,
2012 VT 17, P34 (2012). Government action is judged under a "more stringent test" under the
Common Benefits Clause than the United States Constitution's Equal Protection Clause's rational
basis test. Baker, at 205. "Article 7 [] requires a 'more stringent' reasonableness inquiry than
[is] generally associated with rational basis review under the federal constitution." Baker, at 204.
205.

The Vermont Supreme Court has declared that Article 7 "only allows the statutory

classifications ... if a case of necessity can be established overriding the prohibition of Article 7
by reference to the 'common benefit, protection, and security of the people."' See, State v. Ludlow
Supermarkets, Inc., 141 Vt. 261, 268, 448 A.2d 791 (1982) ("Ludlow") . That "all the people
should be afforded all the benefits and protections bestowed by government is also reflected in the
second section [of Article 7], which prohibits not the denial of rights to the oppressed, but rather
the conferral of advantages or emoluments upon the privileged." Baker at 208.
206.

As the Vermont Supreme Court observed in Ludlow, "[a]lmost all regulatory

legislation, particularly when the concern is economic, tends to be uneven in its impact. Such
inequalities are not fatal with respect to constitutional standards if the underlying policy supporting
the regulation is a compelling one, and the unbalanced impact is, as a practical matter, a necessary
consequence of the most reasonable way of implementing that policy." Id. at 265. "Vermont case
law has consistently demanded in practice that statutory exclusions from publicly-conferred
benefits and protections must be 'premised on an appropriate and overriding public interest.'"
Baker, at 206.
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207.

Here, the Defendants' adverse actions against Plaintiffs single out Plaintiffs.

Defendants' adverse actions are not justified by any necessity nor any compelling reason. In fact,
in light of the exigency of climate change, the Defendants' adverse actions against Plaintiffs are
decidedly the opposite.
208.

As a result, Plaintiffs are entitled to damages, and to declaratory and injunctive

relief (i) restoring the Plaintiffs to the position they would have been in but for Defendants'
unlawful conduct, which includes compelling the State Defendants to issue the certificate of public
good for the Chelsea and Apple Hill solar projects, (ii) re-instating the PPAs for the OCI, OC2
and OC3 projects, (iii) to pay a monetary award in the nature of back-pay and/or front-pay to
restore Plaintiffs to where they would have been but for Defendants' unlawful conduct, (iv)
enjoining the current PUC Commissioners from deciding any issue involving Plaintiffs, and (v)
appointing an independent panel to act instead of the PUC Commissioners to decide issues and
cases involving Plaintiffs.
COUNTIX
DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION (SELECTIVE ENFORCEMENT)
(Violation of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution
and 42 U.S.C. § 1983)

209.

Plaintiffs restate and incorporate by reference each and every allegation m

preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
210.

Although the Defendants' rationale was pretextual, the Defendants have conceded

that they consider denying a certificate of public good based on aesthetics and orderly development
only if someone complains. See, In re Chelsea Solar LLC, No. 8302 (Vt. Pub. Util. Comm'n, April
14, 2017) at 12. That is the classic definition of selective enforcement. As the Vermont Supreme
Court acknowledged in In re G. T., 170 Vt. 507 (2000), such an approach is the paradigm of
unconstitutional discrimination. See, id. at 514 citing People v. Acme Markets, Inc., 37 N.Y.2d
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326, 334 N.E.2d 555, 558, 372 N.Y.S.2d 590 (N.Y. 1975) (discriminatory enforcement found
where Sunday sales law was unenforced, save upon complaint). The parallel between the Acme
Markets case and this case is striking. In Acme Markets, the Sunday sales law was enforced only

upon complaint, which turned it into a tool for private purposes. The same is true here.
211 .

As a result, Plaintiffs are entitled to damages, and to declaratory and injunctive

relief (i) restoring the Plaintiffs to the position they would have been in but for Defendants'
unlawful conduct, which includes compelling the State Defendants to issue the certificate of public
good for the Chelsea and Apple Hill solar projects, (ii) re-instating the PPAs for the OCl, OC2
and OC3 projects, (iii) to pay a monetary award in the nature of back-pay and/or front-pay to
restore Plaintiffs to where they would have been but for Defendants' unlawful conduct, (iv)
enjoining the current PUC Commissioners from deciding any issue involving Plaintiffs, and (v)
appointing an independent panel to act instead of the PUC Commissioners to decide issues and
cases involving Plaintiffs.
COUNTX
DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION (CLASS OF ONE)
(Violation of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution
and 42 U.S.C. § 1983)

212.

Plaintiffs restate and incorporate by reference each and every allegation m

preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
213.

The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment bars government action that

does not substantially advance a legitimate state interest, and that is arbitrary and irrational. (U.S.
Const. amend. XIV; Lingle, 544 U.S. at 542.
214.

Plaintiffs have a protected property right or interest in their personal property,

including their money, the solar projects, the PPAs, in their real property, and in their other
property interests.
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215.

Plaintiffs have been discriminated against as compared to other applicants for

CPGs. See, Village of Willowbrook v. Olech, 528 U.S. 562, 564 (2000) (per curiam) (recognizing
a constitutional claim as a "class of one" by showing that plaintiff had "been intentionally treated
differently from others similarly situated and that there is no rational basis for the difference in
treatment.")
216.

Plaintiffs have been denied the CPG for the Chelsea solar project and targeted by

the Defendants for retaliation for no legitimate regulatory reason. Del Monte Dunes at Monterey,
Ltd v. City ofMonterey, 920 F.2d 1496, 1508 (9th Cir. 1990) (recognizing constitutional claim for

denial of a permit "motivated, not by legitimate regulatory concerns, but by political pressure from
neighbors and other residents.")
217.

Here, the political pressure came from Legislators in response to the political

pressure of neighbors and other residents. The denial of a CPG for the Chelsea project was
"motivated, not by legitimate regulatory concerns, but by political pressure from neighbors and
other residents," who had their pressure super-charged by Klein, Morrissey and other legislators.
218.

The Defendants' actions retroactively and substantially damage Plaintiffs' property

rights in order to confer a private benefit on a class of private interests, is arbitrary and capricious,
and, therefore, violate the substantive due process rights of Plaintiffs.
219.

Defendants have violated Plaintiffs' rights to due process and equal protection.

220.

As a result, Plaintiffs are entitled to damages, and to declaratory and injunctive

relief (i) restoring the Plaintiffs to the position they would have been in but for Defendants'
unlawful conduct, which includes compelling the State Defendants to issue the certificate of public
good for the Chelsea and Apple Hill solar projects, (ii) re-instating the PPAs for the OCl, OC2
and OC3 projects, (iii) to pay a monetary award in the nature of back-pay and/or front-pay to
restore Plaintiffs to where they would have been but for Defendants' unlawful conduct, (iv)

44

Case 5:20-cv-00034-gwc Document 1 Filed 03/09/20 Page 45 of 61

enjoining the current PUC Commissioners from deciding any issue involving Plaintiffs, and (v)
appointing an independent panel to act instead of the PUC Commissioners to decide issues and
cases involving Plaintiffs.

COUNT XI
DUE PROCESS, EQUAL PROTECTION AND THE PUBLIC TRUST DOCTRINE
(Violation of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution
and 42 U.S.C. § 1983)

221.

Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege the allegations contained in each and every

preceding paragraph of this Complaint.
222.

The United States Constitution recognizes and preserves the fundamental right

of citizens to be free from government actions that harm life, liberty, and property. These inherent
and inalienable rights reflect the basic societal contract of the Constitution to protect citizens and
posterity from government infringement upon basic freedoms and basic (or natural) rights. The
rights to life, liberty, and property have evolved and continue to evolve as technological advances
pose new threats to these fundamental rights and as new insights reveal discord between the
Constitution's central protections and the conduct of government. As set forth in the Preamble of
the Constitution, these rights belong to present generations as well to our "Posterity" (or future
generations).
223.

Our nation's climate system, including the atmosphere and oceans, is critical to

Plaintiffs' rights to liberty and property. Our nation's climate system has been, and continues to
be, harmed by Defendants.
224.

Defendants harmed our nation's climate system with full appreciation of the

results of their acts. Plaintiffs' substantive Fifth Amendment rights have been infringed because
Defendants directly contributed to causing atmospheric carbon dioxide ("CO2") to rise to levels
that dangerously interfere with a stable climate system required alike by our nation and Plaintiffs.
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225.

The present CO2 concentration and continuing CO2 emissions - a function, in

part, of Defendants' historic and continuing permitting, authorizing, and subsidizing of fossil fuel
extraction, production, transportation, and utilization - endanger Plaintiffs' liberties and property.
226.

For the past fifty years, Defendants have known about the danger to Plaintiffs'

liberties and property created by carbon pollution. Acting with full appreciation of the
consequences of their acts, Defendants knowingly caused, and continue to cause, the dangerous
interference with our atmosphere and climate system to be greater than it otherwise would be.
227.

Defendants have knowingly endangered Plaintiffs' welfare and property by

approving and promoting fossil fuel development, including exploration, extraction, production,
transportation, importation, exportation, and combustion, and by subsidizing and promoting this
fossil fuel exploitation, and by approving the purchase of energy from fossil fuel generators. All
of these deliberate actions by Defendants have cumulatively contributed to the current dangerous
levels of atmospheric CO2, which deprive Plaintiffs of their fundamental rights to liberty and
property.
228.

Plaintiffs are suffering harm by the dangerous aggregate actions and deliberate

omissions of Defendants. Defendants' contribution to the dangerous interference with a stable
climate system is having such irreversible and catastrophic consequences as to shock the
conscience. The conduct, if not fundamentally altered, will have even worse consequences for
future generations.
229.

The affirmative aggregate acts of Defendants have been and are infringing on

Plaintiffs' liberties by placing Plaintiffs in a position of increased danger with a destabilized
climate system and increased dangerous levels of CO2 in our country's atmosphere.
230.

After knowingly contributing to this dangerous situation for Plaintiffs,

Defendants continue to knowingly enhance that danger by allowing fossil fuel production,
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consumption, and combustion at dangerous levels, and taking the adverse actions against Plaintiffs
that are complained of herein, thereby violating Plaintiffs' substantive Fifth Amendment due
process rights.
231.

After placing Plaintiffs in a position of climate danger, Defendants have

continued to act with deliberate indifference to the known danger they helped create and enhance.
A destabilized climate system poses unusually serious risks of harm to Plaintiffs. These risks are
so substantial as to shock the conscience.
232.

Defendants have had longstanding, actual knowledge of the serious risks of

harm and have failed to take necessary steps to address and ameliorate the known, serious risk to
which they have exposed Plaintiffs. With deliberate indifference, Defendants have not
implemented their own plans for climate stabilization nor any other comprehensive policy
measures to effectively reduce CO2 emissions to levels that would adequately protect Plaintiffs
from the dangerous situation of climate destabilization.
233.

By exercising sovereignty over electrical generation in the State of Vermont,

the State Defendants have also assumed custodial responsibilities over the impact such jurisdiction
has on the climate system within its jurisdiction and influence. In assuming control over electrical
generation in the State of Vermont, Defendants have imposed severe limitations on Plaintiffs'
freedom to act on their own behalf to secure a stable climate system and, therefore, have a special
relationship with Plaintiffs, and a concomitant duty of care to ensure their reasonable safety,
liberties and property. By their affirmative acts contributing to the dangerous interference with a
stable climate system, Defendants have abrogated their duty of care to protect Plaintiffs'
fundamental rights to liberty and property. In their custodial role, Defendants have failed to protect
Plaintiffs' needs with respect to the climate system in violation of the Fifth Amendment and
Fourteenth Amendment.
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234.

Furthermore, Defendants' acts, if not fundamentally altered without delay, will

affect a complete taking of some of Plaintiffs' property interests by virtue of the sea level rise,
storms and other adverse consequences that are an incident of Defendants' unlawful actions.
235 .

The State of Vermont, through the PUC and the PUC Commissioners, 1s

depriving Plaintiffs of their fundamental rights to be free from the dangerous government acts,
which infringe on their fundamental rights to liberty and property, by continuing to allow the
purchase and distribution in Vermont of electricity generated by fossil fuels, and by the adverse
actions taken by Defendants against Plaintiffs complained of herein, thus increasing carbon
pollution and exacerbating already-dangerous climate instability.
236.

The affirmative aggregate acts of Defendants in the areas of fossil fuel extraction,

production, transportation, importation and exportation, and consumption, as described in this
Complaint, and the purchase and use of electricity generated by such activities are contributing to
the dangerous concentrations of CO2 in the atmosphere and a dangerous climate system, and
irreversible harm to the natural systems critical to Plaintiffs' rights to liberty and property. The
affirmative aggregate acts of Defendants cannot and do not operate to secure a more compelling
state interest than Plaintiffs' fundamental rights to liberty and property.
237.

These rights incorporate fundamental protections required to sustain life itself.

"[A] stable climate system is quite literally the foundation 'of society, without which there would
be neither civilization nor progress."' Juliana v. United States, 217 F. Supp. 3d 1224, 1250 (D.
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Ore. 2016) 8 quoting Obergefell v. Hodges, 135 S. Ct. 2584, 2598 (quoting Maynard v. Hill, 125
U.S. 190,211 (1888)). 9
238.

Avoiding the most catastrophic impacts of climate change will reqmre

unprecedented action over the next decade. 10
239.

The Vermont Supreme Court has recognized the ongoing vitality of the public trust

doctrine. See, State v. Central V Ry., 153 Vt. 337, 342 (1989):
Despite its antediluvian nature, however, the public trust doctrine retains an
undiminished vitality. The doctrine is not "'fixed or static,' but one to 'be molded
and extended to meet changing conditions and needs of the public it was created
to benefit."' Matthews v. Bay Head Improvement Ass'n, 95 N.J. 306, 326, 471
A.2d 355, 365 (1984) (quoting Borough of Neptune City v. Borough ofAvon-bythe-Sea, 61 N.J. 296, 309, 294 A.2d 47, 54 (1972)). The very purposes of the
public trust have "evolved in tandem with the changing public perception of the
values and uses of waterways." National Audubon Society v. Superior Court of
Alpine County, 33 Cal. 3d 419, 434, 658 P.2d 709, 719, 189 Cal. Rptr. 346, 356
(1983) (en bane). Nor is the doctrine fixed in its form among jurisdictions, as
"there is no universal and uniform law upon the subject." Shively v. Bowlby, 152
U.S. 1, 26 (1894).
240.

The Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court has recognized that tidelands (the most

frequent focus of the public trust doctrine) are like "air and light," which are also held for the
common good. Boston Waterfront Development Corp. v. Commonwealth, 378 Mass. 629, 633

8

Reversed on justiciability grounds in a 2-1 opinion by the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals, No.
No. 18-36082 (9 th Cir. January 17, 2020). But see, id. at 14-16 ("Copious expert evidence
establishes that this unprecedented rise stems from fossil fuel combustion and will wreak havoc
on the Earth's climate if unchecked ... caus[ing] sea levels to rise 15 to 30 feet by 2100. The
problem is approaching 'the point of no return.' Absent some action, the destabilizing climate will
bury cities, spawn life-threatening natural disasters, and jeopardize critical food and water
supplies ... The record also establishes that the government's contribution to climate change is not
simply a result of inaction. The government affirmatively promotes fossil fuel use in a host of
ways.")
9

But see, Juliana v. United States, No. 18-36082 (9th Cir. January 17, 2020) at 21 ("Reasonable
jurists can disagree about whether the asserted constitutional right exists. Compare Clean Air
Council v. United States, 362 F. Supp. 3d 237, 250-53 (E.D. Pa. 2019) (finding no constitutional
right), with Juliana, 217 F. Supp. 3d at 1248-50; see also In re United States, 139 S. Ct. at 453
(reiterating "that the 'striking' breadth of plaintiffs' below claims 'presents substantial grounds for
difference of opinion"')."
10

"[C]ourts too often have been cautious and overly deferential in the arena of environmental law,
and the world has suffered for it." Juliana v. U.S., 217 F. Supp. 3d 1224, 1262 (D. Ore. 2016).
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(1979) ("By the law of all civilized Europe, before the feudal system obtained in England, there
was no such thing as property in tide waters. Tide waters were res omnium, that is, they were for
the common use, like air and light.") (internal citations and quotations omitted).
241.

As a moral matter, protecting the climate for future generations is a value deeply

rooted in this nation's history and tradition, and is mirrored in the religious teachings of many
faiths, including Christianity, Judaism, Islam, Hinduism, and Buddhism. 11 In the papal encyclical,

Laudato Si', Pope Francis issued a clarion call for climate action. 12 Speaking at the White House
in 2015, Pope Francis urged action: "(C]limate change is a problem which can no longer be left to
a future generation. When it comes to the care of our 'common home,' we are living at a critical
moment in history." I3
242.

Similarly, the Framers recognized each generation's fundamental obligation to

preserve the value and integrity of natural resources for later generations. The most succinct,
systematic treatment of intergenerational principles is provided by Thomas Jefferson to James
Madison:
The question [w ]hether one generation of men has a right to bind another ...
is a question of such consequence as not only to merit decision, but place
among the fundamental principles of every government .... I set out on this
ground, which I suppose to be self-evident, 'that the earth belongs in usufruct
. · , ....
[ ] 14
toth e 11vmg
11

See, e.g., "To the Jewish People, to all Communities of Spirit, and to the World: A Rabbinic
Letter on the Climate Crisis," signed by 425 Rabbis of all streams of Judaism, originally published
May 2015, available at https: //theshalomcenter.org/RabbinicLetterClimate; Islamic Declaration
on Global Climate Change, International Islamic Climate Change Symposium, August 2015,
available at http: //islamicclimatedeclaration.org/islamic- declaration-on-global-climate-change;
Hindu Declaration on Climate Change, November 23, 2015, available at
http: //www.hinduclimatedeclaration2015.org; see also, Mary Christina Wood, Nature's Trust:
Environmental Law for a New Ecological Age at 279-280 (citing multiple faiths as recognizing
public trust obligations to present and future generations).
12

Laudato Si', ,-i 53 .

13

Transcript of Pope Francis White House Welcoming Ceremony, available
http: //www. popefrancisvisi t. com/pope-francis -u-s-visi t-speech transcripts/#whi tehouse .
14

at

Jefferson to James Madison, September 6, 1789, Papers of Thomas Jefferson, Julian Boyd ed.,
XV at 392-98 (1950).
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243.

The writings of Theodore Roosevelt also furnish powerful expressions of the duty

to future generations as the foundation of the American conservation ethic:
The "greatest good of the greatest number" applies to the number within the
womb of time, compared to which those now alive form but an insignificant
fraction. Our duty to the whole including the unborn generations, bids us
restrain an unprincipled present-day minority from wasting the heritage of
these unborn generations. The movement for the conservation of ... all our
natural resources [is] essentially democratic in spirit, purpose, and method. 15
244.

As the preeminent climatologist, Dr. James Hansen, has warned, "Failure to act

with all deliberate speed in the face of the clear scientific evidence of the long term dangers posed
is the functional equivalent of a decision to eliminate the option of later generations and their
legislatures to preserve a habitable climate system." 16 Allowing excessive carbon dioxide
emissions to imperil the climate system jeopardizes the fundamental rights of all and of future
generations. If fossil fuel emissions are not rapidly abated, then our children, grand-children and
future generations will confront an inhospitable future.
245.

The Plaintiffs have a fundamental right to our country's life-sustaining and property

sustaining climate system, which encompasses our atmosphere waters, oceans, and biosphere.
246.

The State Defendants must exercise governmental power consistent with protecting

those trust resources. As sovereign trustees, the State Defendants have a duty to refrain from
actions which further impair these essential natural resources and which inhibit or interfere with
action of Plaintiffs and others to combat the destructive effects of fossil fuel electric generation.
247.

Plaintiffs have a constitutional right and a right under the public trust doctrine

to use their land to build solar facilities, and only a compelling overwhelming contrary state interest

15

Theodore Roosevelt, A Book-lover 's Holidays in the Open 299-300 (1916).

16

James E. Hansen et al., Scientific Case for Avoiding Dangerous Climate Change to Protect
Young
People
and
Nature,
NASA
(Jul.
9,
2012),
available
at
http: //pubs.giss.nasa.gov/abs/ha085 l 0t.html.
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is allowed to curtail that right.
248.

30 V.S.A. § 248 is unconstitutional on its face and as applied to Plaintiffs

through the PUC. The PUC's adverse actions against Plaintiffs complained over herein deprive
Plaintiffs of their fundamental rights to liberty and property. The Defendants' pretextual bases for
taking the adverse actions against Plaintiffs complained of herein are based upon unconstitutional
standardless aesthetics and orderly development criteria which do not rise to the level of a
sufficient state interest to restrict and prevent Plaintiffs from using their land for solar energy
facilities.
249.

Wherefore, Plaintiffs respectfully ask this Court to declare that the aesthetics

criterion in 30 V.S.A. §248(b)(5) and the PUC ' s application thereof and the orderly development
criterion in 30 V.S.A. §248(b)(l), individually and collectively, are unconstitutional because they
are standardless, and because they unconstitutionally burden Plaintiffs' constitutional rights to
liberty and property, and are therefore void and unlawful, and enjoin the Defendants from applying
the same.
250.

Plaintiffs also seek damages and declaratory and injunctive relief (i) restoring the

Plaintiffs to the position they would have been in but for Defendants' unlawful conduct, which
includes compelling the State Defendants to issue the certificate of public good for the Chelsea
and Apple Hill solar projects, (ii) re-instating the PP As for the OC 1, OC2 and OC3 projects, (iii)
to pay a monetary award in the nature of back-pay and/or front-pay to restore Plaintiffs to where
they would have been but for Defendants' unlawful conduct, (iv) enjoining the current PUC
Commissioners from deciding any issue involving Plaintiffs, and (v) appointing an independent
panel to act instead of the PUC Commissioners to decide issues and cases involving Plaintiffs.
COUNT XII
PREEMPTION AND UNLAWFUL TERMINATION
(Violation of the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution,
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the Federal Power Act and 42 U.S.C. § 1983)

251.

Plaintiffs restate and incorporate by reference each and every allegation m

preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
252.

Plaintiff OCS and Defendant VEPP are parties to a wholesale sale power purchase

contract under which OCS would sell all the energy produced by the OCl project to VEPP for a
period of 25 years. That contract contains two milestone provisions. The first requires that OCS
apply for a certificate of public good under 30 V.S.A. §248 for the project within 1 year from the
date of contract execution: "Within one year of the date of this Agreement, Producer shall file a
complete Section 248 application with the Commission." The second requires that the project
achieve commercial operation within two years of contract execution.
253.

By letter dated October 17, 2019, VEPP sent a termination notice to OCS

purporting to terminate the OCI contract after being directed to do so by the PUC. VEPP claimed
that OCS did not satisfy the first milestone.
254.

OCS did file a complete section 248 application with the PUC prior to I year from

the date of contract execution for the OC I project. In fact, not only did OCS file its section 248
application prior to the I-year date, it obtained the certificate of public good prior to that I-year
date.
255 .

OCS received its certificate of public good in PUC Case 8797. That CPG allows

the construction of a facility that is up to 4.99 megawatts.
256.

Plaintiff OCS and Defendant VEPP are also parties to a wholesale sale power

purchase contract under which OCS would sell all the energy produced by the OC3 project to
VEPP for a period of 25 years. That contract contains the same two milestone provisions as the
OC I contract.
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257.

On February 6, 2020, Defendant VEPP at the direction of the PUC sent a

termination letter to Plaintiffs purporting to terminate the OC3 project's PPA on the objectively
meritless basis that the Plaintiffs did not file a petition for a CPG for the project within one year
from the effective date of the PPA. The effective date of the OC3 PPA was January 30, 2019, and
the petition for a CPG was filed on January 30, 2020, exactly one year after the effective date.
258.

Defendant VEPP, however, claimed that the deadline was January 29, 2020,

ignoring the plain language of the PPA.
259.

Under Defendant VEPP's interpretation, if the language had said an act needed to

occur within 1 day of the effective date, then the act would actually need to be done on the same
day and not within 1 day-an objectively absurd result to be sure.
260.

Neither the PUC nor VEPP have the right to terminate the OCl or the OC3 contract

without first receiving the approval of the FERC. Through the Federal Power Act, Congress
occupied the field of wholesale electricity sales, and assigned to the Federal Power Commission now FERC - exclusive authority to regulate that field. See 16 U.S.C. § 824(b)(l).
261.

Once a wholesale energy contract is executed, such as the OC 1 and OC3 contracts,

it can only be terminated with the approval of the FERC and only after a determination by FERC
that the termination is in the public interest. See generally, e.g., NextEra Energy, Inc. v. Pacific
Gas and Elec. Co., 166 FERC ,r 61,049 (2019). 17 See also, In re Permian Basin Area Rate Cases,

390 U.S. 747, 822 (1968) ("The regulatory system created by the Act ... contemplates abrogation
of these agreements only in circumstances of unequivocal public necessity").

17

The OCl contract is a FERC-jurisdictional wholesale sale. See, e.g., PJM Interconnection, LLC,
123 FERC 61,087 (2008). OCl and OC3 would sell energy to VEPP who then would re-sell it
and wheel it to different Vermont utilities.
54

Case 5:20-cv-00034-gwc Document 1 Filed 03/09/20 Page 55 of 61

262.

That means that before sending the purported termination notice, VEPP (who was

directed by the PUC) would have needed to petition the FERC for permission to terminate the
agreement. No such petition was filed and no determination was made by the FERC.
263.

The State Defendants' direction to VEPP to issue the termination letter is pre-

empted and unlawful. The provision in the QC 1 and OC3 contracts purporting to grant VEPP
(controlled by the PUC) the right to terminate the contracts without FERC approval is also preempted and unlawful.
264.

The State Defendants' and VEPP's purported terminations are unlawful and a

violation of federal law.
265.

Without the OC 1 contract, the Plaintiffs will be unable to build and finance the OC 1

Project.
266.

Without the OC3 contract, the Plaintiffs will be unable to build and finance the OC 1

267.

The public interest is also harmed by the Defendants' violation of federal law.

268.

Plaintiffs are entitled to judgment under 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201(a) and 2202, declaring

Project.

that the Defendants' actions violate the Supremacy Clause (Article VI, Clause 2) of the United
States Constitution and the Federal Power Act, and that the purported termination of the OCl and
OC3 contracts is invalid.
269.

Plaintiffs are entitled to injunctive relief preventing the termination of the OCl and

OC3 contracts and re-instating the OCl and OC3 contracts.
270.

Such injunctive relief would harm Defendants less (if at all) than denying relief

would harm Plaintiffs.
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COUNT XIII
BREACH OF CONTRACT AND TOTAL REPUDIATION
(against VEPP)
271.

Plaintiffs restate and incorporate by reference each and every allegation m

preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
272.

VEPP's wrongful termination of the OCl and OC3 contracts constitutes a total

breach and complete repudiation of the OC 1 and OC3 contracts entitling Plaintiffs to damages
under the Vermont Uniform Commercial Code representing the full benefit of the bargain, which
equals the value of future net income from the OC 1 and OC3 projects.
273.

In the alternative Plaintiffs seek an award of damages in an amount equal to 100%

of the sum of all amounts that Plaintiffs would have received over the 25-year term of the OC 1,
OC2 and OC3 contracts for energy plus other damages to be proved at trial, attorneys' fees and
punitive damages.

COUNT XIV
BREACH OF OBLIGATION TO ACT IN GOOD FAITH
274.

Plaintiffs restate and incorporate by reference each and every allegation in the

preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
275.

Vermont Uniform Commercial Code ("UCC") § 1-304 provides "Every contract or

duty within this code imposes an obligation of good faith in its performance and enforcement."
UCC § 1-201(b)(20) provides "good faith . .. means honesty in fact and the observance of
reasonable commercial standards of fair dealing." Under UCC § 2-104(1) VEPP is considered a
"merchant". A "Merchant ... means a person who deals in goods of the kind or otherwise by his
occupation holds himself out as having knowledge or skill peculiar to the practices or goods
involved in the transaction or to whom such knowledge or skill may be attributed by his
employment of an agent or broker or other intermediary who by his occupation holds himself out
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as having such knowledge or skill." Contracts made by a merchant have incorporated in them the
explicit standard not only of honesty in fact (Section 1-201), but also of observance by the
merchant of reasonable commercial standards of fair dealing in the trade. See, UCC § 2-103.
Those obligations may not be disclaimed. UCC § l-302(b ).
276.

VEPP ' s wrongful termination of the OCl and OC3 contracts constitutes a breach

of its obligation of good faith entitling Plaintiffs to damages under the Vermont Uniform
Commercial Code representing the full benefit of the bargain, which equals the value of future net
income from the OC 1 and OC3 projects.
277.

In the alternative Plaintiffs seek an award of damages in an amount equal to 100%

of the sum of all amounts that Plaintiffs would have received over the 25-year term of the OCl,
OC2 and OC3 contracts for energy plus other damages to be proved at trial, attorneys' fees and
punitive damages
COUNT XV
DECLARATION THAT THE PUC'S JUNE 13 ORDER WAS A DEFAULT

278.

Plaintiffs restate and incorporate by reference each and every allegation in the

preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
279.

If one party to a contract, such as VEPP, is in default, then the other party's

obligations are suspended. Restatement (Second) of Contracts,§ 237.
280.

Here, VEPP is acting as an extension of the PUC. The PUC's June 2019 order was

not issued in good faith, and was part of the Defendants' conspiracy against Plaintiffs. Among
other things, the June 13 order breached the obligation of good faith and fair dealing.
281.

The June 13 order constituted a default by VEPP under the OCl, OC2 and OC3

contracts.
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282.

As a result, OCS' obligation to meet the milestones in those contracts was

suspended.
283.

Plaintiffs ask for declaratory and injunctive relief declaring that the June 13 order

constituted a default by VEPP under the OC 1, OC2 and OC3 contracts, the VEPP termination
notices are invalid and re-instating those contracts and resetting all deadlines in those contracts to
an equitable date in the future.
284.

In the alternative Plaintiffs seek an award of damages in an amount equal to 100%

of the sum of all amounts that Plaintiffs would have received over the 25-year term of the OC 1,
OC2 and OC3 contracts for energy plus other damages to be proved at trial, attorneys' fees and
punitive damages.
COUNT XVI
DECLARATION THAT VEPP'S TERMINATION NOTICES
ARE INVALID UNDER THE PREVENTION DOCTRINE

285.

Plaintiffs restate and incorporate by reference each and every allegation in the

preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
286.

The prevention doctrine prohibits the PUC and VEPP from terminating the OCl,

OC2 and OC3 contracts.
287.

The PUC (and by extension VEPP) has prevented, hindered and/or rendered

impossible the occurrence of a condition precedent to its obligation to perform, or to the
performance of a return promise, and therefore is not relieved of the obligation to perform, and
may not legally terminate the contract for nonperformance.
288.

The PUC's June 2019 order was not issued in good faith, and was part of the

Defendants' unlawful conspiracy against Plaintiffs. That order has prevented, hindered, and/or
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rendered impossible the occurrence of the condition that OCS meet the milestones that were
purportedly not met.
289.

Although motive is not necessary for the application of the prevention doctrine,

PUC and VEPP had motive to hinder Plaintiffs' projects.
290.

The PUC's and VEPP's hindrance was improper in both motive and means.

291.

Any interests that the Defendants purport to advance through their hindrance are

pretextual.
292.

Plaintiffs seek a declaration that the termination notices are invalid and re-instating

those contracts and resetting all deadlines in those contracts to an equitable date in the future.
293 .

Plaintiffs ask for declaratory and injunctive relief declaring that the June 13 order

prevented, hindered, and/or rendered impossible the occurrence of the condition that OCS meet
the milestones under the OC 1, OC2 and OC3 contracts, the VEPP termination notices are invalid.
294.

In the alternative Plaintiffs seek an award of damages in an amount equal to 100%

of the sum of all amounts that Plaintiffs would have received over the 25-year term of the OC 1,
OC2 and OC3 contracts for energy plus other damages to be proved at trial, attorneys' fees and
punitive damages.
COUNT XVII
DECLARATION THAT VEPP'S TERMINATION NOTICES ARE INVALID UNDER
THE DOCTRINE OF DISPORPORTIONATE FORFEITURE

295 .

Plaintiffs restate and incorporate by reference each and every allegation in the

preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
296.

As an alternative to Plaintiffs' other claims herein regarding the OCl and OC3

contract terminations, the termination notices must be declared invalid in order to avoid a
disproportionate forfeiture.
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297.

The occurrence of a condition may, in appropriate circumstances, be excused in

order to avoid a disproportionate forfeiture .
298.

Here the result would be all one-sided. Plaintiffs would lose substantial amounts

of the value of investments they made in the OCl and OC3 projects, and the OCl and OC3
contracts.
299.

On the other hand, VEPP will lose nothing by excusing the condition.

300.

In the circumstances of this case, it would be unfair and inequitable for VEPP to

terminate the contracts and cause the loss of value the Plaintiffs made in the OCl and OC3 projects
in reliance and in anticipation of performance.
301.

Plaintiffs seek a declaration that the VEPP termination notices are invalid because

they would cause a disproportionate forfeiture.
COUNT XVIII
VERMONT TORT CLAIMS ACT

302.

Plaintiffs restate and incorporate by reference each and every allegation in the

preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
303 .

Under 12 V.S.A. § 5601, the "State of Vermont shall be liable for injury to persons

or property or loss of life caused by the negligent or wrongful act or omission of an employee of
the State while acting within the scope of employment, under the same circumstances, in the same
manner, and to the same extent as a private person would be liable to the claimant."
304.

The Defendant PUC Commissioners have committed the wrongful acts against

Plaintiffs complained of herein causing substantial damages to Plaintiffs.
305.

Those wrongful acts if committed by a private person would cause such person to

be liable to Plaintiffs for damages.
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306.

Plaintiff seek an award of damages in an amount equal to 100% of the sum of all

amounts that Plaintiffs would have received over the 25-year term of the Chelsea, Apple Hill, QC 1,
OC2 and OC3 contracts for energy plus other damages to be proved at trial, attorneys ' fees and
punitive damages.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

1.

For the reasons stated, Plaintiffs respectfully requests the following relief:
a. Grant judgment in favor of Plaintiffs and against Defendants;
b. Issue the declarations requested herein by Plaintiffs;
c. Grant all appropriate requested injunctive relief;
d. Award Plaintiffs their reasonable attorney fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and
42 U.S.C. § 1988; and
e. Grant Plaintiffs such other relief as is just and appropriate.

Dated: March 9, 2020

elone
Allco Renewable Energy Limited
1740 Broadway, 15 th floor
New York, NY 10019
Phone: (212) 681-1120
Email: Thomas.Melone@AllcoUS.com
Attorney for Plaintiffs
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